
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Operational Services 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held Virtually on Tuesday, 9 February 2021 at 7.30 pm 
when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how 
Members can attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 8)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Corporate Performance Report: Q3 2020-21 (Pages 9 - 18)

6. Air Quality Update PRESENTATION 

7. Litter & Dog Waste Bin Policy Report (Pages 19 - 32)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part A of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private

None.

 

Members

Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair)
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Dakota Dibben
Gary Harding
Nirmal Khabra
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Steve Thompson
Frank Wardle

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Tuesday, 17 November 2020 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair)
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Dakota Dibben
Nirmal Khabra
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Steve Thompson
Frank Wardle
Emma Elliott
Leslie Hoskins

Stuart Alford Assistant Director (Operations)
Joel Simons Waste & Projects Compliance Officer
Mary Bobby Cemeteries & Allotments Manager
Mark Lees Regulatory Services Manager
Mandy Francis Licensing Manager
James Bridges Digital Services Officer
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (minutes)

12. Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Conrad Broadley and Cllr Gary Harding. Cllr 
Leslie Hoskins and Cllr Emma Elliott respectively attended as their substitutes.

13. Minutes from Previous Meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on 23 September 2020 were signed by the Chair.

14. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Nirmal Khabra declared another interest in Item 7 – Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy Review as he was a Gravesham Hackney Carriage licence holder.

15. Street Scene Update 

The Committee was given an update on the improvements being made within the Street 
Cleansing Service to improve the cleanliness of the Borough in recent months.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 17.11.2020

2

The Assistant Director (Operations) introduced the report and advised that the deep 
cleansing machine had completed its first phase of deep cleaning and had moved onto 
Community Square and had also been able to access previously inaccessible business 
frontages during the latest lockdown. It was intended that this machine and the new 
cleansing staff would also be used elsewhere in the Borough for example Perry Street, the 
shopping parades in Istead Rise, Meopham etc. There had been a good uplift in the 
cleanliness of the town centre which had also seen the refurbishment of litter bins, 
replacement of damaged ashtrays and batteries in the solar bins had also been checked.

The Committee was advised that Kent County Council was duty bound to carry out weed 
spraying on roads and pavements but this service was not as good as it should be.  Earlier 
in the year, the Borough Council had obtained a weed removal machine which had shown 
good results and Members’ attention was drawn to the before and after photos contained in 
the report. A schedule was in place to work round the worst affected area and this schedule 
would be under continuous review.

The Waste Projects & Compliance Officer noted that the Street Cleansing Team always 
strove to deliver improvements in service and excellent work had been achieved. Members’ 
attention was drawn to the compliments received by the Council in relation to work 
undertaken by the Team. Further to the report on the Recycling ‘On-the-Go’ Trial to the last 
meeting of the Committee, new bins litter and dual compartment recycling bins had been 
installed in St Andrew’s Gardens and had been in place for 2 weeks. A record was being 
kept of the contaminants in the waste disposed of in the recycling bins which would be 
monitored for a total of 8 weeks. This data would then be analysed and the findings would 
inform communications and signage.

Members noted that at the last meeting of the Committee an update had been given on the 
Adopt a Street initiative and on Street Champions. Officers were now working on how to give 
Ward Councillors more of a role in co-ordinating volunteers and in the meantime Councillors 
were asked to contact the Waste Projects & Compliance Officer to be provided details of 
volunteers within their Wards.

The Waste Projects & Compliance Officer gave an update on figures contained in the report 
as follows:

- The scheme now had 194 Street Champions up from 186 as set out in the report 
which showed a total increase of 97.7% and 168 streets had been adopted.

- 237 volunteers had attended a Community Clean event.
- 389 sacks of litter had been collected since the start of the financial year.

The Assistant Director (Operations) concluded that his teams were working closely with the 
new Environmental Enforcement Team which was under the Communities Directorate and 
described the process reports of fly tipping went through to allow the collection of any 
evidence before removal of the rubbish. The officer also gave an update on the progress of 
future initiatives.

The following points were raised during discussion on this report:

 A question was raised on the purchase of a second deep cleansing machine and 
another weed ripper to provide continuation of service in case of breakdown. The 
Assistant Director (Operations) advised that the deep cleansing machines were quite 
expensive and repairs would be completed by the Vehicle Workshop in the event of a 

Page 4



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 17.11.2020

3

breakdown in a timely manner.  The use of the weed ripper machine is being 
reviewed and if required another machine will be purchase however the Housing 
Estate Care Team has already  procured a weed ripper machine.

 It was noted that it was intended that both these machines would be used in locales 
outside the town centre and in more rural locations as soon as the team had the 
capacity.

 A suggestion was made that the weed ripper be used in alleyways around schools to 
make them safer to traverse and to encourage parents to walks their children to 
school. The officer undertook to take this on board and asked Members to advise him 
by email of the alleyways in question.

 In respect of paragraph 6.3.6 of the report, a question was raised on how Members 
were communicated with in relation to information on Street Champions and litter 
pick up events.

 It was noted that a street cleanliness Scrutiny Review had been planned which had 
been delayed by the pandemic which now might possibly not be required as so much 
progress had been made in recent months.

 The Chair requested that all Councillors encourage the work on the Street 
Champions.

 Following a question on whether the Council could deal with graffiti on the walls of 
privately owned properties, Members were advised that graffiti on ground level walls 
could be dealt with following an indemnity being signed by the owner of the property.

The following positive comments were made by the Committee:

 The report was encouraging and uplifting.
 Brilliant report.
 Wow! Congratulations to the Assistant Director (Operations) and his team and the 

residents of Gravesham. The Borough was not yet perfect but the commitment of the 
operatives and residents would continue to increase the success of these initiatives. 
A Councillor had walked through Gordon Gardens, Fort Gardens and the Promenade 
and had found one piece of litter.

The Assistant Director (Operations) undertook to pass on the Committee’s congratulations 
and compliments to the appropriate teams. He also expressed the hope that the town centre 
and other areas being so clean and tidy might cause people to feel alienated if they do not 
comply.

Resolved that the report be noted.

16. Allotment Bee Keeping Policy 

The Assistant Director (Operations) introduced the report and noted that the Allotment 
Beekeeping Policy assisted the Council in meeting its biodiversity and Climate Change 
objectives.

The Cemeteries & Allotments Manager advised that the policy had been written following 
research with the British Beekeepers Association and Kent beekeepers. The Committee was 
advised that bee numbers were declining and the Council had a duty as a landowner and 
allotment site provider to have guidelines in place to enable tenants to keep bees. Health 
and Safety was considered to be very important as was the siting of the hives. For example, 
hives would not be sited near schools and would be screened to ensure that the bees would 

Page 5



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 17.11.2020

4

have an upwards trajectory when leaving the colony. In addition, hive owners would have to 
display signs to warn of the presence of bees and any concerns would be reported to the 
Cemeteries & Allotments Manager. All allotments would be visited from time to time to 
ensure adherence to the policy.

The Chair congratulated the officer on a comprehensive and easy to understand report.

The following points were raised during discussion on this item:

 A question was raised on whether a beekeeper would have to leave the allotment if a 
potential new tenant objected to the presence of the hives.  The Committee was 
advised that the applicants for allotments could chose up to 4 sites and officers would 
either offer an allotment as far away from the hives as possible or would offer another 
site.  The Cemeteries & Allotments Manager stated that she would not be disposed 
to move the hives in this situation.

 The Committee was advised that the proposed policy ran side by side with the Kent 
County Council Plan Bee Policy. The Borough Council’s policy had been 
communicated to all allotment tenants who had all been very supportive. The 
Assistant Director (Operations) confirmed that the Council was not only working with 
the County Council but also with the Kent Wildlife Trust and other organisations.

 A suggestion was made that this initiative be bought to the attention of youth groups 
sometime in the future.

 A concern was raised regarding the County Council’s policy to stop cutting the grass 
verges which simple meant the County had stopped managing the verges. Officers 
were asked to lobby the County Council to sow the verges with bee friendly plants 
such as lavender, buddleia for example. The Assistant Director (Operations) advised 
that it was on his agenda to speak with the County Council but there was also 
Borough-Council owned land where more could be done. It would also help if these 
initiatives were signposted for residents to enable them to understand the approach 
being taken with any given site. 

 A question was raised on the allotment beekeepers not being permitted to display 
honey for sale signs. The Cemeteries & Allotments Manager confirmed that allotment 
tenants were not permitted to sell honey or any other produce. This was in line with 
advice from the Beekeepers Association. It was noted that the beekeepers could give 
their honey to friends and family or use it to make soaps, both soaks etc. It was noted 
that the majority of tenants were happy to have the bees on site because they 
pollinated the plants.

 Following a comment from the Assistant Director (Operations), the Chair agreed that 
cemeteries should be used constructively but the public must be made aware 
because of the sensitivity issues.

Resolved that the Allotment Bee Keeping Policy be recommended for adoption.

17. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy Review 

The Regulatory Services Manager presented a report which set out the draft revised 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy and the proposed consultation 
methodology. The Council published a new policy every three years and the current policy 
would expire on 30 April 2020. The main changes being proposed to the policy were due to 
the introduction of new national standards in early in 2020 which, amongst other things, had 
raised the standards in relation to what constituted a fit and proper person and this had also 

Page 6



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 17.11.2020

5

resulted in a level national playing field. Members’ attention was drawn to the table in 
Appendix 2 of the report which also proposed that the review period changed from 3 to 5 
years with interim reviews if necessary. 

The Committee was advised that to had previously been mandatory to have CCTV in all 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles and this was now discretionary. Advice from the 
Information Commissioner’s Office had stated that a licensing authority which mandates the 
installation of CCTV systems in taxis and private hire vehicles, as the Council has done 
since 2009, would be responsible for the data and would therefore need to register and act 
as the data controller. This was considered too unwieldy from a resource point of view and 
therefore unachievable. However, because CCTV by driver as a deterrent it was it was likely 
to be retained.

The officer noted that, in support of the Council’s carbon neutral commitment, it was 
proposed to further strengthen licensed vehicle emissions by removing the option to licence 
vehicles meeting the Euro 6 standards. It was acknowledged that the Council could do more 
in relation to encouraging a change to electric vehicles but the charging infrastructure was 
not in place to permit this.

Mandatory disability awareness training for all new applicants and all existing drivers within a 
set timeframe was also recommended. This was not an onerous requirement as the training 
was available online, required the ID of the user and cost £12. In addition, the training would 
drive up standards in the Borough in relation to disability issues. 

The Chair emphasised that the proposed policy and the consultation method were set out in 
the report and asked Member to confine their comments to the consultation process and 
save their views on the policy for submission during the consultation process.

It was noted that hackney carriage and Private hire drivers were subject to blanket rules but 
Uber drivers were not and other areas required drivers to fit CCTV. Following a questions on 
whether CCTV would be made compulsory, the Regulatory Services Manager explained that 
the Borough Council did not issue Uber licenses which in the part of England were usually 
issued by Transport for London which also gave Uber drivers the right to roam. The officer 
also reiterated that The Council had made CCTV in licensed vehicles discretionary because 
of the advice received from the Information Commissioner’s Office.

The Chair added that a Zoom meeting which would include the Regulatory Services 
Manager and himself could be offered to any Members who had questions.

Resolved that, subject to the inclusion of amendments and suggestions set out 
above, the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy and the policy 
consultation process be noted.

18. Corporate Performance Report Quarter 1 2020/21 

Members were presented with an update against the Performance Management Framework 
as set out within the Council’s Corporate Plan for quarter 2 2020/21 (July to September 
2020).

The Chair went through the report page by page and the following comments were made:

Page 7



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 17.11.2020

6

PI3 and PI4 - The Regulatory Services Manager advised that the performance of the 
Council’s Environmental Health service had been and continued to be dominated by the ever 
changing landscape of Covid-19 and that the officers were doing a sterling job regulating 
businesses etc.  In addition, PI4 gave a false reading as many compliant establishments had 
not yet been inspected.

PI5 – Members were advised that there had been an increase in nuisance complaints as a 
result of the lockdown and people being at home more. The Chair commented that this was 
an exceptional service and was absolutely crucial. This view was echoed by the Chair of the 
Licensing Committee who had seen at close hand how the service was keeping businesses 
and the public informed, enforcing the rules and all in a very confusing time. The Regulatory 
Services Manager undertook to pass on the views of the Committee to the team.

PI8, PI9 and PI10 – The Assistant Director (Operations) noted that the year had been, and 
continued to be, very different due to the impact of Covid-19 and the team had performed 
brilliantly throughout. The service was now preparing for the Brexit transition period. 
Appreciation videos had been uploaded across Kent on social media and during Recyling 
Week when the clock tower had been lit up green. There had also been a high number of 
communications sent out about this initiative across a range of social media channels. As a 
result residents and businesses were recycling more and residual waste had decreased.

Following a question on how a person would know why the clock tower was green, the 
officer conceded that whilst the reason had been published on some social media channels, 
the decision to light the tower had been somewhat last minute. This would be kept in mind 
for future initiatives and would also be communicated to Members. However, Councillors 
were urged to keep a close eye on all means of Council communications. It was also noted 
that the communication had not appeared on Instagram and the Assistant Director 
(Operations) undertook to take this back to the Communications Manager.

Resolved that the report be noted.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.49 pm

Page 8



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Committee

Date: 9 February 2021

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2020-21 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Operational Services Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Three 2020-21 (October to December 2020). 

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Operational Services 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter Three 2020-21, covering the period October to 
December 2020. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 10



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The Plan ensures the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 11

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 12



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

O P E R A T I O N A L  S E R V I C E S
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  3  :  2  0  2  0  -  2  1

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 13



P I  3 Total number of reported Health & Safety incidents

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

11 3 4 5 6 6 4

P I  4 % of broadly compliant food establishments

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

93.0% 93.1% 94.2% 93.8% 89.0% 87.7% 86.4%

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Enforce high regulatory standards: put customer and employee safety first by ensuring

commercial businesses and licence holders are fully compliant with expected legislative standards.

O U T T U R N

Licensing: The council’s Taxi Policy will expire at the end of April.  As part of the formal review process, the 

revised Policy, went out to public consultation during Q3.  During the consultation period, a productive meeting 

was held with a small working group of taxi drivers, representing the views of the local trade, to better understand 

their views on the proposals.  The evaluated consultation responses and an updated version of the Policy, taking 

into account all consultation responses, will be brought back to Operational Services Cabinet Committee on 24 

March for further consideration. Despite difficulties arising from the ongoing pandemic, the Team have been 

working hard to ensure the council’s statutory licensing functions continue to run smoothly, whilst still catching up 

with administrative tasks suspended during earlier lockdowns.

Environmental Health (Commercial Team): We previously reported that, despite a large backlog of inspections 

due to earlier restrictions, officers had hoped to inspect all high/medium risk businesses due in 20/21.  Due to the 

ongoing premises closures, some premises (e.g. care homes) not admitting visitors, work pressures on the team 

arising from their responsibilities as the council’s Covid-compliance leads in respect of business requirements, and 

impacts of the current lockdown, this will not be viable.  The Food Standards Agency have confirmed that 

inspections of sector specific and high risk premises should continue during lockdown so far as possible, and so 

we will endeavour to do so. The PI for 'broadly compliant’ food establishments nevertheless stands at 86.3% for 

Q3, which is again slightly below our usual value as the report used to capture this figure will count all premises 

not yet inspected as being non-compliant.  The team continue to simultaneously lead the council’s regulatory 

response in relation to the Coronavirus regulations and business compliance, as well as the Covid secure 

requirements for the council’s own workforce which fall within the remit of Health and Safety at Work. 

In Q3, the team have handled a further 179 Covid complaints/enquires, bringing the total for the year to over 500.  

Officers from across Regulatory Services have continued to proactively monitor, advise on, and enforce the 

various curfew requirements for the hospitality sector.  As widely reported in the press, despite providing 

guidance, 14 £1000 fixed penalty notices were served.  Two were subsequently withdrawn and two remain 

unpaid, and are consequently being referred for prosecution. The total number of reported H&S incidents indicator 

is dependent upon business compliance with formally reporting accidents to the HSE and members of the public, 

employers & employees reporting accidents to the Environmental Health department.  The four incidents logged in 

Q3 does not directly reflect upon officer’s performance, but does serve to give some indication as to how safe 

premises in Gravesham are.

O U T T U R N

0

5

10

15

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

P
age 14



Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

95.0% 98.0% 98.0% 99.0% 99.8% 99.0% 97.0%

O U T T U R N

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

P I  5
% of environmental health service requests receiving a first response within five 

working days 

2. Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of

household recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in the

borough.

Environmental Protection update - Mark Lees

The Environmental Protection team’s ordinarily busy reactive workload addressing allegations of 

nuisance and handling of other service requests remained elevated during Q3, with 249 incoming 

complaints and enquiries logged; an increase of around 20% compared to the same period last year. 

The majority of these related to noise, which is generally the largest category of nuisance complaint 

received.

In addition, some 259 service requests were dealt with by the Commercial Team in Q3, compared to 

60 for the same period last year which is more representative of the usual Q1 value for that team, 

whose remit is ordinarily, largely taken up with food hygiene inspections and interventions.

Despite the Environmental Health teams collectively processing some 508 service requests in Q3 

(150 more than in Q1), 97% of all ‘routine’ complaints received a first response five working days.  

Our air quality strategies are largely progressed via the planning process. The Environmental 

Protection Team respond to all relevant planning applications and the officers play an active part in 

working groups relating to major developments.  

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

P
age 15



P I  9 Total volume of residual waste per household (kg)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

108.0 212.7 320.0 427.6 125.1 240.0 359.0

P I  8 % of household waste recycled P I   10 % of household waste sent to landfill

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

44.3% 44.2% 42.6% 42.5% 45.6% 45.1% 44.0% 1.9%

O U T T U R N

3. Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of

household recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in the

borough.

The Christmas period is always a very busy time for our Waste & Recycling crews and despite the challenges of 

the Covid-19 pandemic, they have continued to be resilient in delivering key services to the residents of 

Gravesham. Inevitably, some refuse and recycling frontline staff have had to self-isolate but the Waste 

Management Team have worked hard to ensure the safety of the crews and have been able to ensure that all 

crews are fully staffed.

In the period October - December 2020 the total refuse, recycling and garden waste tonnages (excluding food 

waste) collected was 1,252 tonnes greater than the period October - December 2019, an increase of 19.9%. 

Despite the continued pressure arising from increased kerbside collection tonnages, 100% of households received 

their scheduled refuse and recycling collection, including over the Christmas period. There continues to be 

increased demand for bulky waste collections from residential properties. Our frontline staff carried out an 

additional 336 collections during the quarter to meet demand when compared to the previous year.

To help Gravesham residents to recycle as much as possible over the Christmas period,  videos were produced 

by the Communications Team for the council’s corporate social media channels to inform residents about changes 

to scheduled waste collections over the Christmas period (which was viewed over 12,000 times), as well as to 

make clear which types of wrapping paper are recyclable (which was viewed over 6,800 times). These videos 

were accompanied by posts encouraging residents to put out excess recycling in cardboard boxes. The provision 

of recycling facilities across the borough continues to be enhanced. A trial of recycling ‘on-the-go’ bins at St 

Andrew’s Gardens has enabled users of the leisure area to recycle their drinks bottles, cans, paper and cardboard 

while out and about rather than disposing of all waste in the litter bins provided. The success of the trial has 

shaped plans for the roll-out of further recycling on-the-go bins at other parks as well as at some shopping 

parades to further increase recycling rates in the borough.

Finally, an audit of recycling provision at council-managed flats across the borough has been completed. The 

results of the audit show that 58.1% of council-managed flats currently have access to dry mixed recycling 

facilities. Working from this baseline, provision for recycling at the remainder of the flats will be made available in 

the coming months, alongside the addition of food waste recycling at all council-managed flats where feasible. 

O U T T U R N

Waste & Recycling update - Stuart Alford 

O U T T U R N

Annual indicator Annual indicator 

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q4
2019 - 20

35%

40%

45%

50%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

100

225

350

475

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

P
age 16



P I  11 Average time taken to remove graffiti identified as GBC responsibility (days)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

2 2 1 1 2

P I  12 % of areas with unacceptable levels of littering

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% N/A 4.0% 4.0%

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

4. Create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an attractive town centre: a

comprehensive programme of street cleansing and high standard of horticultural maintenance.

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

In the period October - December 2020 the total street litter, fly-tipping and mechanical sweeper tonnages 

collected by Street Cleansing staff was 242 tonnes greater than the period October - December 2019, an increase 

of 32.3%. This is a testament to the hard work and dedication of our frontline cleansing staff in working to deliver a 

Gravesham to be proud of. 

The Maxvac Gladiator deep cleaning machine has been used to remove ingrained grime and chewing gum on 

New Road, King Street, Windmill Street and the Civic Centre forecourt. The High Street, Clive Road, Garrick 

Street and Community Square will be targeted next and additional staff will be trained to use the machinery to 

optimise its use.

The Street Cleansing Team is now provided with a list each week from the Environmental Enforcement Team of 

any areas of the town centre that need attention due to graffiti, spillages or damaged street furniture.

The Street Cleansing and Environmental Enforcement Teams have also been liaising in order tackle waste 

dumped by businesses and residential properties within the town centre and across the borough. The Waste 

Management Team more broadly have also been working with the Environmental Enforcement Team to deliver 

letters to residential streets in the borough where the dumping of black sack waste is prominent to educate 

residents about correct waste disposal.

The replacement of the litter bins at St Andrew’s Gardens has increased the litter capacity at the site by 140.5%. 

Not only have the new bins improved the appearance of the site but the enhanced capacity has enabled Street 

Cleansing Operatives to empty the bins more efficiently so that they are able to deal with any other cleansing 

issues when on site as part of their daily duties. The litter bins at Valley Drive and Perry Street shopping parades 

have also been replaced with bins with enhanced capacity, with the ultimate aim of replacing the litter bins at all 

shop fronts over the coming months.

The Street Champions initiative continues to attract new volunteers. To date, the scheme boasts 201 Street 

Champions (an increase of 105.1% since January 2020) who have pledged to ‘adopt’ 174 streets, alleyways and 

open spaces. 

The Horticultural Services Team have continued to adapt well to the inevitable disruption caused by the COVID-19 

restrictions by increasing lone working to keep staff safe. 

The 2020 grass cutting programme continued until late November due to the unusually mild autumn. Horticultural 

Operatives then moved onto shrub pruning and maintenance, hedge cutting, tree works and general grounds 

maintenance duties to improve the appearance of the Council’s parks, communal gardens and open spaces.

Finally, the Cemeteries & Allotments Team is keen to support beekeeping as part of the Council’s efforts to 

prepare the borough to become carbon neutral by 2030. A new Allotment Bee Keeping Policy was adopted by the 

Council which acknowledges the critical role that honey bees play in the biodiversity of allotment sites and in 

helping improve the wider living environment. The policy will help manage the process for enabling bee hives to be 

safely installed within our allotments and ensure their ongoing management.

N/A

0

1

2

3

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

P
age 17



P I   39 % of council play sites annually inspected

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

100%

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Improve resident well-being: provide and preserve a suite of high quality play areas and promote 

opportunities for active lives.

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

O U T T U R N

Between November and December 2020 during the second national lockdown, our dedicated team 

worked really hard to ensure all public parks and open spaces remained open, safe and were 

maintained to a high standard.  

This meant that the public had local quality parks and open spaces available for their daily exercise 

helping to improve well-being and mental health during this difficult time.

In addition, 100% of the routine operational safety inspections of GBC owned playgrounds have been 

carried out when due.

Annual indicator Annual indicator 

#2 PLACE 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 18



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: Tuesday 9th February 2021

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations)
Joel Simons - Waste Projects & Compliance Officer

Subject: Litter & Dog Waste Bin Policy

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present members with the proposed Litter & Dog Waste Bin Policy for its consideration, 
comments and to recommend its adoption.

Recommendations:
1. Members are requested to consider the proposed Litter & Dog Waste Bin Policy, 

attached as Appendix Two, and recommend its adoption.

1. Background

1.1 Street cleanliness is a priority for Gravesham Borough Council, as set-out in the 
Corporate Plan for 2019-23.

1.2 A key element in delivering a clean Gravesham to be proud of is in the provision 
of litter bins and receptacles for the containment and collection of street litter.

1.3 Gravesham Borough Council has no legal duty to provide litter and dog waste bins 
but it does have a duty to keep Council-owned land and public highways clear of 
litter and refuse as far as practicable.

1.4 Litter bins are provided, maintained and emptied by Gravesham Borough Council 
as the primary means of controlling the litter and dog waste problems that many 
areas experience. There are approximately 800 litter and dog waste bins of 
numerous types across the borough.

1.5 This proposed policy presented in Appendix 2 helps to support Government 
advice in developing an integrated strategy for dealing with the problem of litter 
and cleanliness that includes defining standards and working in partnership with 
local communities.

1.6 The policy sets out a number of types of litter bins that are currently in use and will 
be used in future in different applications to provide consistency in the look of the 
environment across the borough.

Page 19 Agenda Item 7



2

1.7 This policy has been written to complement the Council’s pledge to become a 
carbon neutral borough by 2030. The standards defined in the policy will support 
the public to be able to recycle as much of their litter on-the-go as possible. By 
having the appropriate number of litter bins with sufficient capacity in strategic 
locations, the efficiency of our Street Cleansing fleet can be optimised in order to 
reduce the number of vehicle journeys, further reducing our carbon footprint.

2. Litter & Dog Waste Bin Policy

2.1 The policy details how the Council will deal with:

 Requests for new litter bins
 Positioning of new litter bins
 Emptying and maintaining litter bins
 Replacing and removing existing litter bins
 Dual dog and litter bins
 Recycling on-the-go bins
 Large park bins and bin housings
 Preferred style of litter bins
 Requests for temporary litter bins for community events

2.2 Once the policy has been approved, current litter and dog waste bins in the 
borough will be re-assessed as required according to the criteria set-out in the 
policy.

2.3 All other functions pertaining to the installation, maintenance, replacement and 
removal of litter and dog waste bins will be carried out in accordance with the 
Litter & Dog Waste Bin Policy.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 None.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 20



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Under the Environment Protection Act, the Council has a duty to keep the streets 
clear of litter.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no finanical requests arising from the proposed policy.

Risk Assessment If action is not taken to improve to the cleanliness of the borough, then the local 
environment will be damaged; and so residents & visitors will have a negative view 
of the borough.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
No.

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A.

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People: To create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and delivering  
projects and initiatives to further increase recycling.

Climate Change Under Objective #1 (cleaner environment) a pledge has been made to increase 
recycling in Gravesham.

Crime and Disorder A clean environment helps to reduce crime and anti-social behaviour. 

Digital and website 
implications

There are no implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no implications.

Page 21

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

 
Gravesham Borough Council
Litter & Dog Waste Bin Policy

February 2021

Document Control

Responsible Department  Waste Management
Authors  Joel Simons (Waste Projects & Compliance Officer)
Consultation  N/A

Revision History

Date Previous Description of Revision
Version

Page 23



Page 2 of 9

1. Introduction

1.1. Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) has no legal duty to provide litter and dog waste bins but 
it does have a duty to keep Council-owned land and public highways clear of litter and refuse 
as far as practicable. Following changes to the classification of various waste materials, dog 
waste can be put into litter bins, and disposed of in the same way. 

1.2. Litter bins are provided, maintained and emptied by Gravesham Borough Council as the 
primary means of controlling the litter or dog waste problems that many areas experience. 
There are approximately 800 litter and dog waste bins of various types across the borough.

1.1. Litter bins in the past, have been provided, maintained and emptied as the main way of 
controlling the litter and dog waste problems that many areas experience. There are 
approximately 800 litter and dog waste bins of various types across the borough.

1.2. Whilst the Council is committed to providing sufficient litter bins to help discharge its 
responsibilities under the Environmental Act 1990, bins will be located in suitable areas 
where it can be demonstrated that a litter bin is required to would remedy a cleansing issue. 
All locations must be approved by the Street Cleansing Manager.

1.3. This policy helps to support Government advice in developing an integrated strategy for 
dealing with the problem of litter and cleanliness that includes defining standards and 
working in partnership with local communities.

1.4. This policy has been written to complement the Council’s pledge to become a carbon neutral 
borough by 2030. The standards defined in the policy will support the public to be able to 
recycle as much of their litter on-the-go as possible. By having the appropriate number of 
litter bins with sufficient capacity in strategic locations, the efficiency of our Street Cleansing 
fleet can be optimised in order to reduce the number of vehicle journeys, further reducing our 
carbon footprint.

2. Purpose of Policy

1.1. The purpose of this policy is to detail how the Council will deal with:
 Requests for new litter bins
 Positioning of new litter bins
 Emptying and maintaining litter bins
 Replacing and removing existing litter bins
 Dual dog and litter bins
 Recycling on-the-go bins
 Large park bins and bin housings
 Preferred style of litter bins
 Requests for temporary litter bins for community events

2. Requests for New Litter Bins

1.1. Bins will only be supplied, installed, maintained or emptied if they are on land for which GBC 
has responsibility, or if the land owner employs the Council to empty the bins on their land. 

Page 24



Page 3 of 9

This includes streets, parks and green spaces, but doesn’t include private land such as 
schools.

1.2. All requests for new bins must be directed to the Street Cleansing Manager 
(street.cleansing@gravesham.gov.uk). The request must demonstrate why there is the need 
for a litter bin in the location requested and detail the nearest alternative litter bin(s).

1.3. Gravesham Borough Council will carefully consider the suitability of the location of the 
requested litter bin. If the location is deemed to be unsuitable for reasons of safety (such as 
stopping to empty a bin, proximity to housing, or installation difficulties) an alternative 
location may be suggested.

1.4. This policy does not suggest public consultation on the installation of bins in general. 
However in some circumstances, consultation is recommended, such as when bins are 
proposed in close proximity to houses.

1.5. Due to the costs of installing, maintaining and emptying bins, we will fully assess all requests 
for new bins using the criteria detailed below: 

1.5.1. Site Survey: 

A site survey will be completed and will consider: 
 The suitability of the location including the need to reduce street clutter, 

particularly in more sensitive locations such as Conservation Areas and near 
to listed buildings. 

 The scale of the litter or dog waste problem - will it make a positive impact on 
litter or can this be addressed more efficiently in other ways e.g. by 
enforcement?

 The number and location of existing bins in the area. 
 Accessibility for disabled people. 
 The cost of installation. 
 The costs for emptying the bin e.g. those in more remote areas can have 

disproportionate transport costs. 
 The possibility of valid objections from neighbours. 
 Whether the placement of a litter bin in the location may encourage 

behaviours such as rubbish dumping.
 The environmental impact of travelling to empty the litter bin.

1.1.1. Alternative Arrangements: 

Possible alternatives, including: 
 Changing the size / type of existing litter bins in the area (e.g. dog bin to dual 

dog and litter bin).
 Moving an existing under-used bin to a more appropriate location. 

1.6. Where appropriate, litter bins with recycling facilities may be installed instead of, or in 
addition to, standard litter bins. 

Page 25

mailto:street.cleansing@gravesham.gov.uk


Page 4 of 9

1.1. Bins will only be installed on sites which are safe and where there is a genuine need for a 
bin. We will not install bins on private land or in a location which may encourage the disposal 
of trade waste. The Environmental Protection Act 1990 makes provision for the collection 
and disposal of commercial waste.

2. Positioning of New Litter Bins

2.1. New free-standing bins should always be positioned out of the main line of travel or grouped 
with other existing street furniture, so that they do not present a collision hazard for vehicles, 
pedestrians and people with sight loss, or reduce the usable width of the footway for people 
using wheelchairs, mobility aids or guide dogs.

2.2. New post-mounted bins should not protrude into circulation space as a cane or guide dog 
could collide with the bin.

5. Emptying & Maintaining Litter Bins

5.1. Bins will only be supplied, installed, maintained or emptied if they are on land for which 
Gravesham Borough Council has responsibility, or if the land owner contracts the Council to 
empty the bins on their land.

5.2. Bins will be emptied on a frequency that will prevent them overflowing. Litter bins will be 
emptied at least once a week but will be emptied more frequently depending upon on their 
location and intensity of use. The frequency will also vary according to the time of year and 
for special events. Monitoring will ensure that the collection frequencies are sufficient. 

5.3. All bins will be maintained to a standard that is fit for purpose and any graffiti on the litter bins 
will be removed when reported by Operatives or members of the public. 

5.4. When a bin is damaged or stolen it will be replaced only if it meets the criteria above for new 
bins. Bins that have a history of constant vandalism will not be replaced and investigations 
will be carried out to identify the perpetrator.

6. Replacing and Removing Existing Bins

6.1. The Council will aim to improve the effectiveness of individual bins through a program of 
removal and replacement, using larger capacity bins where required or combining separate 
dog and litter bins into one. 

6.2. We will continually monitor the usage of bins to determine their viability. Bins not being used 
or being used infrequently may be removed.

6.3. Where individual bins are repeatedly targeted with vandalism, a flexible approach to finding a 
suitable solution should be found. This may include using a different type of bin, moving the 
bin to a nearby location or removing the bin entirely.

Page 26



Page 5 of 9

7. Dual Dog & Litter Bins

7.1. There are more than 180 dog waste litter bins installed across the borough and dog owners 
are encouraged to use the dog waste bins where provided.

7.2. All dog and litter bins are collected by the same round for each area and the waste is taken 
to the same disposal point. It therefore serves no purposes to split this waste before 
collection. 

7.3. Dog owners should be advised that dog waste in bags can also be put in any public litter bin, 
reducing the need for specific dog bins. There are many dog and litter bins in the district 
which have been located next to each other. 

7.4. A review of bin locations could identify dog waste bins which could be removed and a dual 
purpose bins with enhanced capacity installed nearby instead.

7.5. Specific dog waste bins will be focused on areas such as open spaces where dog walking is 
more common.

8. Recycling Bins

8.1. Much of the waste collected in litter bins could be recycled. The recycling of this waste will 
both benefit the environment but also reduce waste collection costs. 

8.2. The Council will consider the installation of dual compartment recycling bins (one side 
recyclables the other for non-recyclables) in appropriate locations, such as in parks and 
leisure areas.

8.3. Appropriate signage will clearly mark which compartments of the bin should be used for 
which waste type. When Operatives empty the dual compartment recycling bins, if the 
recycling compartment is found to be contaminated then the waste will be rejected and will 
instead be disposed of as residual waste. 

8.4. We will continually monitor the usage of street recycling bins to determine their viability. 
Street recycling bins that are consistently contaminated and mis-used may be removed and 
re-located to a more appropriate site. 

9. Large Park Bins and Bin Housings

9.1. Where greater litter bin capacity is required, such as in leisure areas and open spaces with 
high footfall, larger 1,100 litre bins may be installed at entrances / exits in addition to pre-
existing litter bins. This approach will ensure that leisure space users have ample litter bin 
capacity to dispose of their waste on-the-go.

9.2. Large park bins will be positioned on the periphery of footpaths so that they are out of the 
main line of travel, or are grouped with other existing street furniture, so that they do not 

Page 27



Page 6 of 9

present a collision hazard for people with sight loss, or reduce the usable width of the 
footway for people using wheelchairs, mobility aids or guide dogs.

9.3. The bins will be presented in housings to improve the appearance of the bins and to prevent 
the bins being used for the disposal of household waste in black sacks. 

10. Preferred Style of Litter Bins

10.1. Where a request or requirement for a new bin has been deemed successful, a new bin will 
be installed. This bin will, as far as practicable, be a standard design and style which is 
consistent across the borough. Examples of the standard bin type and design can be seen in 
the images below:

10.1.1. Standard Street Litter Bins 

                             

10.1.2. High Profile Area / Recycling ‘On-the-Go’ Bins:
  

Broxap Single Litter & Dog 
Waste Bin

Broxap Dual Litter & Dog Waste 
and Recycling Bin

Glasdon Plaza Litter & Dog Waste Bin

Page 28



Page 7 of 9

10.1.3. BigBelly Bins

10.1.4. Parks Litter Bins

10.1.5. Dog Waste Bins 

Melba Swintex Dog Waste Bin

Streetmaster Cardiff & Brecon 
Litter Bins

BigBelly Solar-Powered 
Compactor Litter Bins

Page 29



Page 8 of 9

10.2. To ensure ease of use by the vast majority of the general public, the litter bins used should 
be as accessible as possible for all users and so consideration of the height of litter bins will 
be made prior to procurement.

10.3. The litter bins should be colour contrasted to their surroundings while street recycling bins 
should use coloured apertures, which are shaped according to the different waste streams 
for ease of use by visually impaired persons.

10.4. BigBelly solar-powered compactor bins are deployed in the town centre and other high 
footfall areas, such as at some shopping parades, in order to ensure sufficient capacity and 
the enhanced litter containment.

10.5. There may be projects which require a different style of litter bin to match its surrounding, 
such as in playgrounds.

11. Requests for Temporary Litter Bins for Community Events

11.1. Temporary bins will be provided for community events in the borough, at the discretion 
of GBC, provided adequate notice is received to make the necessary arrangements. 

11.2. This will usually be a minimum of 10 working days however, the Council is keen to 
promote sustainable events and every effort will be made to assist if a shorter notice period 
is given.

11.3. Should these events be held on land for which Gravesham Borough Council is 
responsible, the provision of a suitable number and style of recycling and litter bins will be 
provided, including emptying at appropriate intervals. 

Page 30



Page 9 of 9

Index

 

 Abbreviations

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Corporate Performance Report: Q3 2020-21
	2. Operational Services Portfolio - Q3 2020-21 - Appendix 2

	7 Litter & Dog Waste Bin Policy Report
	Appendix 2 - Litter & Dog Waste Bin Policy




